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Ariadne Panagopoulou (AP-2202) 
Pardalis & Nohavicka, LLP 
950 Third Avenue, 25th Floor 
New York, NY 10022 
Telephone: (718) 777-0400 
Facsimile: (718) 777-0599 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 

Bablu Husen, individually and on behalf of 
all other employees similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
                                -v- 
 
Sagar Food USA Inc d/b/a Sagar Chinese, 
Sagar Chinese, Inc. d/b/a Sagar Chinese, 
Shamiur Rahman, and Afruja Akter July, 
jointly and severally, 

 
Defendants. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 

 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiff Bablu Husen ("Plaintiff"), brings this action under the Fair Labor 

Standards Act ("FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et. seq. on behalf of himself and others similarly 

situated, in order to remedy Defendants’ wrongful withholding of Plaintiff’s earned wages and 

overtime compensation. Plaintiff also brings these claims under New York Labor Law 

("NYLL"), Article 6, §§ 190 et. seq., and Article 19, §§ 650 et. seq., as well as the supporting 

New York State Department of Labor Regulations for violations of minimum wage and 

overtime wage requirements, spread-of-hours pay, unlawful retention of gratuities, and notice 

and record-keeping requirements. 

2. Defendants engaged in their unlawful conduct pursuant to a corporate policy of 

 
FLSA COLLECTIVE ACTION 

COMPLAINT 
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minimizing labor costs and denying employees compensation by knowingly violating the 

FLSA and NYLL. Defendants' conduct extended beyond the Plaintiff to all other similarly 

situated employees. Plaintiff seeks certification of this action as a collective action on behalf of 

themselves individually and those other similarly situated employees and former employees of 

Defendants pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b). 

 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

Federal Question Jurisdiction and Supplemental Jurisdiction 

3. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 because the civil action herein arises under the laws of the United States, 

namely, the Fair Labor Standards Act and 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq. Additionally, this Court has 

supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims under 28 U.S.C. §1367(a). 

Personal Jurisdiction 

4. This Court may properly maintain personal jurisdiction over Defendants under 

Rule 4 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure because Defendants’ contacts with this state and 

this judicial district are sufficient for exercise of jurisdiction over Defendants so as to comply 

with traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.  

Venue 

5. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of New York under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 

(b) (1) and (2) because Defendants conduct business in this judicial district and because a 

substantial part of the acts or omissions giving rise to the claims set forth herein occurred in 

this judicial district. 
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THE PARTIES 
 

Plaintiff: 
 

6. Plaintiff Bablu Husen is an adult individual residing in the State of New York, 

County of Kings. 

7. During the relevant time period, Plaintiff was a covered employee within the 

meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(e) and the NYLL § 190, employed by Defendants, 

Sagar Food USA Inc, Sagar Chinese, Inc., Shamiur Rahman, and Afruja Akter July 

(collectively “Defendants”) and performed work in New York. 

8. Plaintiff consented in writing to be a party to the FLSA claims in this action, 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §216(b), and his consent form is attached hereto. 

Defendants: 

9. Sagar Food USA Inc d/b/a Sagar Chinese (hereinafter "Sagar Food") is a 

domestic business corporation organized and existing under the laws of the state of New York, 

formed on June 25, 2012. 

10. Sagar Food USA Inc operates a Chinese restaurant with the name “Sagar 

Chinese”, located at 87-47 Homelawn Street, Jamaica, NY 11432. 

11. At all relevant times, Sagar Food employed about 18-20 employees, was open 

seven days per week and serviced well over 200 guests per day. 

12. At all relevant times, Sagar Food maintained control, oversight, and direction 

over the Plaintiff, including timekeeping, payroll, and other employment practices that applied 

to him.  

13. At all relevant times, Sagar Food was an employer engaged in interstate 

commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 
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U.S.C. §§ 206(a) and 207(a) and employed Plaintiff within the meaning of the FLSA. 

14. At all relevant times, Sagar Food used goods and materials produced in 

interstate commerce, such as food and food ingredients manufactured out of state, particularly 

in China and India, and distributed in New York and employed numerous individuals who 

handled these goods and materials. See Exhibit A. 

15. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was employed by Sagar Food within the meaning 

of the NYLL §§ 2 and 651. 

16. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times, Sagar Food’s annual gross 

volume of sales made, or business done, was not less than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($500,000.00) exclusive of separate retail excise taxes, within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 

U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(A)(ii). 

17. Sagar Chinese, Inc. d/b/a Sagar Chinese (hereinafter "Sagar Chinese") is a 

domestic business corporation organized and existing under the laws of the state of  New York, 

formed on January 17, 2008. 

18. Sagar Chinese operates a Chinese restaurant with the name “Sagar Chinese”, 

located at 74-19 37th Ave, Jackson Heights, NY 11372. 

19. At all relevant times, Sagar Chinese employed about 20 employees, was open 

seven days per week and serviced well over 250 guests per day. 

20. At all relevant times, Sagar Chinese maintained control, oversight, and direction 

over the Plaintiff, including timekeeping, payroll, and other employment practices that applied 

to him.  

21. At all relevant times, Sagar Chinese was an employer engaged in interstate 

commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 
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U.S.C. §§ 206(a) and 207(a) and employed Plaintiff within the meaning of the FLSA. 

22. At all relevant times, Sagar Chinese used goods and materials produced in 

interstate commerce, such as food and food ingredients manufactured out of state, particularly 

in China and India, and distributed in New York and employed numerous individuals who 

handled these goods and materials. See Exhibit A. 

23. At all relevant times, Plaintiff was employed by Sagar Chinese within the 

meaning of the NYLL §§ 2 and 651. 

24. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times, Sagar Chinese’s annual gross 

volume of sales made, or business done, was not less than Five Hundred Thousand Dollars 

($500,000.00) exclusive of separate retail excise taxes, within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 

U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(A)(ii). 

25. Shamiur Rahman ("Rahman"), was, at all relevant times throughout Plaintiff’s 

employment, owner, principal, authorized operator, manager, shareholder and/or agent of the 

two Corporate Defendants.  

26. At all relevant times throughout Plaintiff’s employment, Rahman had the 

discretionary power to create and enforce personnel decisions on behalf of both Corporate 

Defendants, including but not limited to: hiring and terminating employees; setting and 

authorizing issuance of wages; maintaining employee records; setting employees' schedules; 

instructing, supervising and training employees; and otherwise controlling the terms and 

conditions for the Plaintiff while he was employed by Defendants. 

27. Upon information and belief, Rahman set and/or approved the Corporate 

Defendants’ payroll policies, including the unlawful practices complained of herein, which 

were communicated to Plaintiff by Defendant July. Further, Rahman had the power and 
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authority to stop the violations complained herein and failed to do so. 

28. Upon information and belief, Rahman hired Defendant Afruja Akter July as a 

manager. 

29. Rahman was actively involved in the day-to-day operations of both Corporate 

Defendants and frequently attended both restaurants to oversee the work of Plaintiff and other 

employees. See Exhibit A. 

30. Accordingly, Defendant Rahman was a “covered employer” within the meaning 

of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d) and regulations thereunder, 29 C.F.R. § 791.2, and the NYLL 

§ 2, and is jointly and severally liable, in his individual capacity, for the unpaid wages and 

other damages sought herein. 

31. Afruja Akter July ("July"), was, at all relevant times throughout Plaintiff’s 

employment, owner, principal, authorized operator, manager, shareholder and/or agent of the 

two Corporate Defendants.  

32. At all relevant times throughout Plaintiff’s employment, July had the 

discretionary power to create and enforce personnel decisions on behalf of both Corporate 

Defendants, including but not limited to: hiring and terminating employees; setting and 

authorizing issuance of wages; maintaining employee records; setting employees' schedules; 

instructing, supervising and training employees; and otherwise controlling the terms and 

conditions for the Plaintiff while he was employed by Defendants. 

33. Specifically, July functioned as the day-to-day general manager of the 

Corporate Defendants. July hired the Plaintiff, supervised and trained him, paid him, in 

accordance with Defendant Rahman’s instructions, assigned him his day-to-day duties, and 

eventually terminated his employment. 
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34. Accordingly, Defendant July was a “covered employer” within the meaning of 

the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d) and regulations thereunder, 29 C.F.R. § 791.2, and the NYLL § 

2, and is jointly and severally liable, in her individual capacity, for the unpaid wages and other 

damages sought herein. 

 
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 
Plaintiff's Work for Defendants 

35. Plaintiff was formerly employed by Defendants from in or around June 2017 to 

in or around October 30, 2018, and worked at their two restaurants located at 87-47 Homelawn 

Street, Jamaica, NY 11432, and 74-19 37th Ave, Jackson Heights, NY 11372. 

36. Plaintiff was ostensibly hired as a server; however, he spent approximately two 

to three hours per shift performing non-tipped occupations such as watering plants, carrying 

buckets of food and food ingredients to and from the two restaurants, taking out the garbage, 

and cleaning and wiping floors, including bathroom floors. 

37. Plaintiff regularly handled goods in interstate commerce throughout the course 

of his employment with Defendants, such as food, food ingredients and drinks, produced or 

manufactured out of state and distributed in New York. 

38. During the first week of his employment, Plaintiff worked approximately 60 

hours. Plaintiff was not paid at all for his work; instead, Defendants claimed that this was a 

“training” period and that Plaintiff was not entitled to compensation. 

39. Thereafter, from June 2017 to in or around February 2018, Plaintiff worked 

approximately 66 hours per week. Plaintiff typically worked six days per week, from Tuesday 

to Sunday, from 12:00 p.m. to 11:30 p.m. Plaintiff typically took a 20-30 minute lunch break 

each day. 
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40. From in or around March 2018 until the end of his employment, Plaintiff’s 

hours of work increased to approximately 77 hours per week. Specifically, Plaintiff worked 

seven days per week, from 12:00 p.m. to 11:30 p.m., with a 20-30 minute lunch break each 

day. See e.g. Exhibit B time clock receipt showing a total of 153.45 hours worked for the two 

week period of 7/30/2018 – 8/12/2018. 

41. Plaintiff worked at both of Defendants’ restaurants according to Defendants’ 

instructions and needs. Plaintiff was primarily stationed at the Jamaica location; however, he 

worked principally at the Jackson Heights location from in or around February to March 2018, 

since the Jamaica location was undergoing renovations.  

42. Throughout the duration of his employment, Plaintiff did not have any 

supervisory authority nor did he exercise discretion or independent judgment with respect to 

matters of significance. 

43. Plaintiff never had any managerial duties, such as hiring and firing employees, 

doing payroll and setting employees' hours of work. 

Plaintiff’s Remuneration 

44. Following his initial “training period” whereby Plaintiff was not paid at all, 

Plaintiff received $3.00 per hour for all his hours worked during the time period of June 2017 

to November 2017. 

45. In or around December 2017, Plaintiff’s pay increased to $4.00 per hour for all 

his hours worked. 

46. In or around April 2018, Plaintiff’s pay increased to $5.00 per hour for all his 

hours worked. This rate remained the same until the end of his employment. 

47. For the example for the two week period of 7/30/2018 – 8/12/2018, when 
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Plaintiff worked a total of 153.45 hours, Plaintiff was paid a total gross amount of $767.25 

(153.45 * $5.00 = $767.25). See Exhibit B. 

48. Initially, Plaintiff received his pay in cash. In or around December 2017, 

Plaintiff started receiving his pay either in check, or a combination of cash and check.  

49. Plaintiff received his pay bi-weekly; however, frequently his pay was received 

late and checks bounced. 

50. Throughout his employment, Plaintiff also received approximately $15.00 to 

$30.00 in tips per day. However, the tips received were never enough to bring his overall 

weekly wages above minimum wage. 

51. Plaintiff was required to input all his gratuities in a tip pool shared by all tipped 

employees. Defendant July, the restaurants’ manager, took 50% of all tips in the tip pool, 

before the tips were distributed to the tipped employees, including Plaintiff. 

Defendants' Unlawful Corporate Practices 

52. Defendants repeatedly paid Plaintiff at a rate, which was below the statutory 

minimum wage. See e.g. Exhibit B. 

53. Defendants repeatedly suffered or permitted Plaintiff to work in excess of forty 

(40) hours per week without paying him the appropriate premium overtime pay of one and one-

half times the statutory minimum wage. See e.g. Exhibit B. 

54. Defendants never provided Plaintiff with an extra hour's pay at minimum wage 

during all the occasions in which the duration of his shift exceeded 10 hours per day. See e.g. 

Exhibit B. 

55. Defendant July unlawfully retained Plaintiff’s and other employees’ gratuities 

from a tip pool which was intended to compensate the tipped employees. 
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56. Defendants willfully disregarded and purposefully evaded record-keeping 

requirements of the FLSA and NYLL by failing to maintain accurate and complete timesheets 

and payroll records. Defendants also failed to establish and maintain accurate tip records 

showing the amount, shares and daily log of tips collected by each employee at each position. 

57. On November 17, 2016, the United States District Court for the Eastern District 

of New York entered judgment against Defendants Sagar Chinese, Inc. and Shamiur Rahman, 

as a result of their unlawful wage and hour practices. See Rosales v. Sagar Chinese, Inc. et. al., 

1:15-cv-06392-ENV-RER (EDNY 11/17/2016). Remarkably, Defendants, instead of correcting 

their unlawful wage and hour violations by paying their employees properly, they created 

fictional pay stubs for employees, including Plaintiff, in order to mask those violations. 

58. The pay stubs given to Plaintiff intentionally grossly understated his hours of 

work. 

59. For example, for the two week period of 7/30/2018 – 8/12/2018, when Plaintiff 

worked a total of 153.45 hours (Exhibit B), Plaintiff received a pay stub stating that he 

purportedly only worked for 59.80 hours and purportedly received an hourly rate of $10.00 for 

all his hours worked, which was false. See Exhibit C. 

60. Plaintiff was not provided with a wage notice at the time of hire or at any point 

thereafter. 

61. Upon information and belief, while Defendants employed Plaintiff, they failed 

to post notices explaining the minimum and overtime wage rights of employees under the 

FLSA and NYLL and failed to inform Plaintiff of such rights. 

62. Plaintiff has personal knowledge of other employees of Defendants who are 

similarly situated and who also worked hours for which they were not paid minimum and 
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overtime wages. 

Defendants were joint employers of Plaintiff and/or a single integrated employer 

63. At all relevant times, Individual and Corporate Defendants were joint employers 

of Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members, acted in the interest of each other with respect 

to Plaintiff’s and other employees' remuneration, and had common policies and practices as to 

wages and hours, pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 791.2 and NYLL § 2. Factors indicating joint 

employment include:  

a. Corporate Defendants all suffered or permitted Plaintiff to work.  

b.  Each of the Defendants acted directly or indirectly in the interest of one another 

in relation to Plaintiff and similarly situated employees.  

c. Defendants each have an economic interest in the locations in which Plaintiff 

and similarly situated employees worked.  

d. Defendants all simultaneously benefitted from Plaintiff’s work.  

e. Defendants each had either functional and/or formal control over the terms and 

conditions of work of Plaintiff and similarly situated employees.  

f. Plaintiff and similarly situated employees performed work integral to each 

Corporate Defendant’s operation.  

64. In the alternative, all Defendants functioned together as a single integrated 

employer of Plaintiff within the meaning of the FLSA and NYLL.  

65. Upon information and belief, Corporate Defendants Sagar Food USA Inc and 

Sagar Chinese, Inc. are related entities and operate together as a single integrated enterprise. 

Specifically, both are owned, managed, and operated by the same core team of individuals, 

including Defendants Shamiur Rahman, and Afruja Akter July.  
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66. Both Sagar Food USA Inc and Sagar Chinese, Inc. do business as “Sagar 

Chinese” and both corporations have designated the same location, namely 87-47 Homelawn 

Street, Jamaica Hills, New York, 11432, as the place for service of process upon them.  

67. Furthermore, both “Sagar Chinese” locations, along with a location in Bellerose, 

are considered and publicly hold themselves as “branches” of the same establishment and 

advertise themselves under a unified website, namely https://sagarchinese.com/. See Exhibit 

A. The three branches are also referred to as “the Renowned Sagar Chinese Restaurant.” Id. 

The three branches also utilize an identical food menu, newsletter for customers, and customer 

list. Id. 

68. The operations of both Sagar Food USA Inc and Sagar Chinese, Inc. are 

intermingled and they employ the same personnel, including the Plaintiff in this action. Upon 

information and belief, managers and supervisors of each Corporate Defendant were, at all 

relevant times, considered, accounted for and publicly held out themselves as managers and 

supervisors of both Corporate Defendants. Individual Defendants, as well as, all other owners, 

principals, managers, and agents of each Corporate Defendant had the authority to hire, fire, 

train and discipline personnel in both Corporate Defendants  

69. Upon information and belief, all non-exempt employees at both Corporate 

Defendants perform the same job duties, are subject to the same employment policies and 

practices, and are directed by Defendants to shift locations in accordance with the Defendants’ 

needs. In particular, Plaintiff was instructed to work at either location of “Sagar Chinese” in 

accordance with their needs. Plaintiff worked similar hours and received the same rate of pay 

irrespective of which location he was working from. 
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70. Accordingly, all non-exempt employees working at any one Corporate 

Defendant at a particular instance were simultaneously considered and accounted for as 

employees of both Corporate Defendants collectively.  

71. Upon information and belief, both Corporate Defendants operated under an 

agreement whereby they would treat all their employees, including Plaintiff, as a pool of 

workers available to all of them. 

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

72. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §§ 203, 206, 207, and 216(b), Plaintiff brings his First 

and Second causes of action as a collective action under the FLSA on behalf of himself and the 

following collective: 

All persons employed by Defendants at any time from November 23, 2015 to 

the present day (the “Collective Action Period”) who worked as tipped 

employees, and other non-exempt employees of the Defendants (the “Collective 

Action Members”). 

73. A collective action appropriate in these circumstance because Plaintiff and the 

Collective Action Members are similarly situated, in that they were all subject to Defendants’ 

illegal policies of failing to pay wages at or above the statutory minimum and failing to pay 

overtime wages for all hours worked above 40 hours per week. 

74. Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members have substantially similar job 

duties and are paid pursuant to a similar, if not the same, payment structure. 

75. The claims of the Plaintiff stated herein are similar to those of the other 

employees. 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Fair Labor Standards Act – Violation of Minimum Wage Requirements  
 (Brought on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members) 

 
76. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Collective Action Members, realleges and 

incorporates by reference all allegations made in all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

77.  Defendants, at all relevant times, paid Plaintiff and the Collective Action 

Members in amounts below the applicable statutory minimum wage for their hours worked, in 

violation of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 206. 

78. Defendants did not even pay Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members at a 

lower tip-credited rate allowed for food service employees.  

79. Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as described in this Complaint, has been willful 

and intentional. Defendants were aware, or should have been aware, that the practices 

described in this Complaint were unlawful. Accordingly, a three-year statute of limitations 

applies pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255(a). 

80. As a result of the Defendants' violations of the FLSA, Plaintiff and the 

Collective Action Members have suffered damages by being denied wages at or exceeding the 

statutory minimum in accordance with the FLSA in amounts to be determined at trial and are 

thus entitled to recovery of such amounts, liquidated damages, attorneys' fees, costs, and other 

compensation pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216 (b). 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Fair Labor Standards Act – Unpaid Overtime Wages 
 (Brought on Behalf of Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members) 

 

81. Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and the Collective Action Members, realleges and 
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incorporates by reference all allegations made in all preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth 

herein. 

82.  Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members overtime 

wages for all hours worked above 40 hours per week thereby violating the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 

207(a)(1) at a rate of one and one half times their regular rate of pay, but under no 

circumstances, below one and one half times the statutory minimum wage. 

83. Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as described in this Complaint, has been willful 

and intentional. Defendants were aware, or should have been aware, that the practices 

described in this Complaint were unlawful. Accordingly, a three-year statute of limitations 

applies pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 255(a). 

84. As a result of the Defendants' violations of the FLSA, Plaintiff and the 

Collective Action Members have been deprived of overtime compensation and other wages in 

amounts to be determined at trial, and are thus entitled to recovery of such amounts, liquidated 

damages, attorneys' fees, costs, and other compensation pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216 (b). 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

New York Labor Law – Violation of Minimum Wage Requirements 

85. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.  

86. Defendants, at all relevant times, paid Plaintiff less than the applicable statutory 

minimum wage for his hours worked in violation of NYLL § 652 and the supporting New York 

State Department of Labor regulations, including 12 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 146-1.2. 

87. Defendants did not even pay Plaintiff and the Collective Action Members at a 

lower tip-credited rate allowed for food service employees.  
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88. Defendants' failure to pay Plaintiff the minimum wage lacked a good faith basis 

within the meaning of NYLL § 663. 

89. Due to Defendants’ violations of the NYLL, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from 

Defendants his unpaid minimum wages, liquidated damages as provided for by the NYLL, 

reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, pursuant to 

NYLL § 198 (1-a). 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

New York Labor Law – Unpaid Overtime Wages 
 

56.        Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs. 

57.          Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff overtime wages for all hours worked above 

40 hours per week thereby violating the NYLL §§ 190 et seq. and the New York State 

Department of Labor regulations, 12 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 146-1.4. 

58.         Defendants' failure to pay Plaintiff overtime compensation lacked a good faith 

basis within meaning of NYLL § 663. 

59.          Due to Defendants’ violations of the NYLL, Plaintiff is entitled to recovery of 

their unpaid overtime wages, liquidated damages as provided for by the NYLL, reasonable 

attorneys' fees and costs of the action, pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, pursuant to 

NYLL § 198 (1-a).  

 
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

 
New York Labor Law – Unpaid Spread-of-Hours Pay 

 
90. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs. 
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91. Defendants have failed to pay Plaintiff spread-of-hours compensation of one 

hour's pay at the basic minimum hourly wage rate for each day during which the interval 

between the beginning and end of Plaintiff’s shift exceeded ten (10) hours, as defined by the 

New York State Department of Labor regulations, 12 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 146-1.6. 

92. Defendants' failure to pay Plaintiff spread-of hours compensation lacked a good 

faith basis within the meaning of NYLL § 663. 

93. Due to Defendants' violations of the NYLL, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from 

Defendants his unpaid spread-of-hours pay, liquidated damages as provided for by the NYLL, 

attorneys' fees, costs, and pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, pursuant to NYLL § 198 (1-

a). 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

New York Labor Law – Failure to Provide Wage Statements 
 

94. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs. 

95. Defendants have failed to provide Plaintiff with wage statements throughout his 

employment listing, inter alia, his regular and overtime hours of work, his correct rate of pay, 

and the basis of pay, in violation of NYLL § 195(3). Instead, Defendants either did not provide 

Plaintiff with any pay stubs, or provided him with fictional paystubs that did not accurately 

reflect all his hours of work and the correct rate of pay. 

96. Due to Defendants’ violations of the NYLL, Plaintiff is entitled to recover from 

Defendants’ statutory damages of Two Hundred and Fifty dollars ($250) per workday that the 

violation occurred, up to a maximum of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000), pursuant to NYLL § 

198 (1-d).  
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

New York Labor Law – Failure to Provide Notice at Time of Hiring 
 

97. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs. 

98. Defendants failed to provide Plaintiff at the time of hiring or at any point 

thereafter, a notice containing the rate of pay and basis thereof, whether paid by the hour, shift, 

day, week, salary, piece, commission, or other; the regular pay day designated by the employer; 

the physical address of the employer's main office or principal place of business; the telephone 

number of the employer, and anything otherwise required by law, in violation of NYLL § 

195(1). 

99. Due to Defendants' violations of the NYLL § 195(1), Plaintiff is entitled to 

recover from Defendants statutory damages of Fifty dollars ($50) per workday that the violation 

occurred, up to a maximum of Five Thousand Dollars ($5,000) pursuant to NYLL § 198 (1-b). 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 
 

New York Labor Law- Unlawful Withholding of Gratuities 
 

100. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all allegations in all preceding 

paragraphs.  

101. Defendant July unlawfully retained 50% of all gratuities collected by the tip pool 

from which Plaintiff and other employees participated in violation of NYLL Article 6, § 196-d 

and 12 N.Y.C.R.R. §§146-2.15 and 146-2.18. 

102. As a result of Defendants' continuous and willful violations of the NYLL § 196-d 

and the supporting New York State Department of Labor Regulations, 12 N.Y.C.R.R. Part 146 

et seq., Plaintiff is entitled to damages for the value of the misappropriated gratuities, liquidated 
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damages as provided for by NYLL § 198(1-a), reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and pre-

judgment and post-judgment interest.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks the following relief:  

A. Designating this action as a collective action and authorizing prompt issuance of 

notice pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) to all putative collective action members, apprising them 

of the pendency of this action, and permitting them promptly to file consents to be Plaintiff in 

the FLSA claims in this action; 

B. Issuance of a declaratory judgment that the practices complained of in this 

Complaint are unlawful under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201 et seq., New 

York Labor Law, Article 6, §§ 190 et seq., and supporting New York State Department of 

Labor regulations; 

C. Unpaid minimum and overtime wages under the FLSA and an additional and 

equal amount as liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and the supporting United 

States Department of Labor regulations; 

D. Unpaid minimum and overtime wages, spread-of-hours pay, and unlawfully 

withheld gratuities under the NYLL, and an additional and equal amount as liquidated damages 

pursuant to NYLL §198(1-a) and § 663(1); 

E. Civil penalties of One Thousand One Hundred Dollars ($1,100.00) for each of 

Defendants’ willful and repeated violations of the FLSA pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b); 

F. A permanent injunction requiring Defendants to pay all statutorily required 

wages pursuant to the FLSA and NYLL;  
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G. If liquidated damages pursuant to FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) are not awarded, 

an award of pre-judgment interest pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961; 

H. An award of statutory damages for Defendants’ failure to provide Plaintiff with 

wage notices at the time of their respective hiring, or at any point thereafter, pursuant to NYLL 

§ 198 (1-b); 

I. An award of statutory damages for Defendants’ failure to provide Plaintiff with 

wage statements pursuant to NYLL § 198 (1-d);  

J. An award of pre-judgment interest of nine per cent per annum (9%) pursuant to 

the New York Civil Practice Law and Rules §§ 5001-5004; 

K. An award of post-judgment interest pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 and/or the 

New York Civil Practice Law and Rules § 5003; 

L. An award of attorney's fees, costs, and further expenses up to Fifty Dollars 

($50.00), pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and NYLL §§ 198 and 663(1); 

M. Such other relief as this Court shall deem just and proper.  

 
 
Dated: New York, New York 
 November 23, 2018      
 
 
 
       Respectfully submitted,  

      PARDALIS& NOHAVICKA, LLP 
       

By: _/s/Ariadne Panagopoulou________   
Ariadne Panagopoulou (AP-2202) 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
950 Third Avenue, 25th Floor 
New York, New York 10022 
Tel: 718.777.0400 | Fax: 718.777.0599 
Email:  ari@pnlawyers.com 
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Welcome to the Renowned Sagar Chinese Restaurant. New
York’s finest traditional Halal spicy Chinese food blended
with Bangladeshi, Indian and Pakistani flavor. Sagar Chinese
set in beautiful contemporary surroundings. Combining
passion, pride and energy Sagar Desi Chinese restaurant has
gained an unique position in New York’s dining environment.

One of the greatest culinary crossroads, with all the bold and unique flavors of the Indian
ansub-continent and Chinese blended to bring you what we call the Sagar Chinese
experience. The menu incorporates both traditional classic flavors and original dishes that
apply eastern flavors with a western twist. We also cater for weddings, functions and parties
for a truly memorable meal. Chinese is located at the heart of New York and is a great place
where you can enjoy authentic spicy Chinese food for little. No matter whether it’s a quick
lunch, family get to gather or even a romantic dinner Sagar Deshi Chinese is the place you
need to be for truly an unforgettable experience, unprecedented quality and unassuming
prices.
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GALLERY VIDEO CONTACT COUPON

COMMENTS
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#  YOUTUBE

$  INSTAGRAM

About Us | Sagar Chinese https://sagarchinese.com/about-us/

1 of 3 21/11/2018, 4:59 PM
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Sagar Chinese restaurant is going to be a third generation
restaurant aiming to serve freshest, healthful delicious food
to the New York’s all community. Sagar Chinese restaurant
dishes are Halal not in name but also authenticable from the
slaughtering to cooking. Shamiur Rahman is the pioneer to
introduce halal spicy Chinese food in the New York.

He has been trained in his family restaurant business from the age of 15. He gained the art of
cooking and knowledge of the food industry in his 20 years long experience. Creating a
unique menu, Shamiur adapted and created classic Bangladeshi and Indian style Chinese
dishes and also developed many new recipes mingling by classical and modern recipes. His
continuing research and development on finger liking Asian fusion recipes will be introduced
more in the future.

Health is a #1 concern while dining. Enjoy the Sagar Chinese delicious dishes. As we are
concern of the Halal ingredients at same time we are also concern on organic ingredients
that will fit to your health. Sagar Chinese is committed to provide the most freshest,
healthful delicious dishes so that you can keep your health fit and come to enjoy the food in
our restaurant again and again.
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JAMAICA
BRANCH

87-47 Homelawn Street
Jamaica, NY 11432
Phone: 718-657-3333, 718-657-3334

Business Hours
Sunday-Thursday: Noon – 10.00pm
Friday-Saturday: Noon – 10.30pm

FOLLOW  US

! "

Map data ©2018 GoogleReport a map error50 m 

This page can't load Google Maps
correctly.

Do you own this
website?

OK

Contact | Sagar Chinese https://sagarchinese.com/contact/

1 of 3 21/11/2018, 5:02 PM

Case 1:18-cv-06693   Document 1   Filed 11/23/18   Page 26 of 34 PageID #: 26
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BELLEROSE BRANCH

252-05 Union Tpke Bellerose, NY 11426
Phone: 718 343 4444, 718 343 4448

Business Hours
Sunday-Thursday: Noon – 10.00pm
Friday-Saturday: Noon – 10.30pm

FOLLOW  US

! " Map data ©2018 GoogleReport a map error50 m 

✻

JACKSON  HEIGHTS BRANCH

74-19 37th Ave
Jackson Heights NY 11372
Phone: 718-505-1002, 718-505-1071

Business Hours
Sunday-Thursday: Noon – 10.00pm
Friday-Saturday: Noon – 10.30pm

This page can't load Google Maps
correctly.

Do you own this
website?

OK
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FOLLOW  US

! "

ABOUT SAGAR CHIN ESE

Welcome to the Renowned Sagar Chinese
Restaurant. New York’s finest traditional
Halal spicy Chinese food blended with
Bangladeshi, Indian and Pakistani flavor.
Sagar Chinese set in beautiful
contemporary surroundings. Combining
passion, pride and energy Sagar Desi
Chinese restaurant has gained an unique
position in New York’s dining environment.
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Your Email (required)
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Copyright © 2010-2017. SagarChinese.com. All rights reserved.

BLOG REVIEW FREE PARKING? HOW ARE WE DOING ?
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Manchurian Sauce: soy sauce, black pepper, fresh ginger and garlic. Masala Sauce: variety
of Indian spices, chili, onion, fresh ginger and garlic. Sagar Sizzling Sauce: red chili, Indian
spices, butter, fresh garlic. Homemade Sauce: oyster sauce, red whole chili, sugar and
lemon juice. Sweet & Sour: chili sauce, lemon juice, sugar and black pepper.

APPETIZER FRIED RICE

$8.95 $9.95LOLLY  POP
C H I C K E N *
Spicy pulled back wings and fried, served
with Creamy sauce

S AGA R  F R I E D  R I C E
(C HI C KE N  OR
VEGETABLE)
Basmati rice Stir-fried with long beans

Sagar Chinese | Chinese Restaurant https://sagarchinese.com/

4 of 15 21/11/2018, 4:48 PM
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Axnut-KATION ELIGIBILITY

Local Arbitration Rule 83.10 provides that with certain exceptions, actions seeking money damages only in an amount not in excess of $150,000,exclusive of interest and costs, are eligible for compulsory arbitration. The amount ofdamages is presumed to be below the threshold amount unless a
certification to the contrary is filed.

Case is Eligible for Arbitration 0
1, AnadnePanagopoulou, counsel for Plaintiffs, do hereby certify that the above captioned civil action is ineligible for
compulsory arbitration for the following reason(s):

0 monetary damages sought are in excess of $150,000, exclusive of interest and costs,

1:1 the complaint seeks injunctive relief,

Elthe matter is otherwise ineligible for the following reason
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pending before the court."

NY-E DIVISION OF BUSINESS RULE 50.1(d)(2)

1.) Is the civil action being filed in the Eastern District removed from a New York State Court located in Nassau or Suffolk
County? Yes 0 No

2.) If you answered "no" above:
a) Did the events or omissions giving rise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in Nassau or Suffolk
County? D Yes 0 No

b) Did the events or omissions giviarise to the claim or claims, or a substantial part thereof, occur in the Eastern
District? Yes No

c) If this is a Fair Debt Collection Practice Act case, specify the County in which the offending communication was
received:

If your answer to question 2 (b) is "No," does the defendant (or a majority of the defendants, if there is more than one) reside in Nassau or
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

DOUGLAS C. PALMER
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      Eastern District of New York

Bablu Husen, individually and on behalf of all other 
employees similarly situated, 

 

Sagar Food USA Inc d/b/a Sagar Chinese, Sagar 
Chinese, Inc. d/b/a Sagar Chinese, Shamiur 

Rahman, and Afruja Akter July, jointly and severally,

Sagar Food USA Inc d/b/a Sagar Chinese 
Sagar Chinese, Inc. d/b/a Sagar Chinese  
Shamiur Rahman                                  
Afruja Akter July                                           
87-47 Homelawn Street   
Jamaica, NY 11432 

Pardalis & Nohavicka, LLP, 
950 3rd Avenue, Floor 25 
New York, NY 10022
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